

Light Use Efficiency Crop Model Effective for Identifying Driving Factors for Maize Yield Gap in Ghana

IFDC FERARI Research Report No. 11

Mohamed Boullouz, Isaac Newton Kissiedu, Anselme K.K. Kouame, Krishna P. Devkota, Williams K. Atakora, and Prem S. Bindraban







Light Use Efficiency Crop Model Effective for Identifying Driving Factors for Maize Yield Gap in Ghana

Mohamed Boullouz^{1,2}, Isaac Newton Kissiedu², Anselme K.K. Kouame², Krishna P. Devkota³, Williams K. Atakora², and Prem S. Bindraban²

¹Mohammed VI Polytechnic University, School of Agriculture, Fertilization and Environmental Sciences (ESAFE), Morocco ²International Fertilizer Development Center, USA ³Mohammed VI Polytechnic University, African Sustainable Agriculture Research Institute (ASARI), Morocco ^{*}Correspondence: <u>pbindraban@ifdc.org</u>

This report is based on the thesis by Mohamed Boullouz, submitted to the Faculty of the School of Agriculture, Fertilization and Environmental Sciences (ESAFE) for obtaining the diploma of master's degree in "Fertilizer Science and Technology". This thesis was conducted under the Fertilizer Research and Responsible Implementation (FERARI) program.

Citation:

Boullouz, Mohamed, Isaac Newton Kissiedu, Anselme K.K. Kouame, Krishna P. Devkota, Williams K. Atakora, and Prem S. Bindraban. 2023. *Light Use Efficiency Crop Model Effective for Identifying Driving Factors for Maize Yield Gap in Ghana*. IFDC FERARI Research Report No. 11.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to all those who have helped me in some way or another to write this thesis.

First, I would like to thank my supervisor, Prem Bindraban, for his support, advice, guidance, and time throughout this internship. He was always available for meetings and always answered my questions and requests. This work would not have been possible without him. I was very happy to work under the guidance of an expert and scholar of such high caliber.

Special thanks to Isaac Newton Kissiedu for his supervision and all the effort he made to help me succeed with this research. Thank you for your support during the coding of LINTUL-1; I really learned a lot.

Many thanks to Anselme Kan Kouame for his advice and support. His counsel and guidance were very helpful and valuable for this thesis.

I would like to especially thank Professor Krishna Devkota from the Mohammed VI Polytechnic University African Sustainable Agriculture Research Institute (ASARI) for his scientific support and for his advice and information. Professor Devkota was one of my main supporters during the production of this thesis. Thank you very much for your time and support.

My appreciation also goes out to Dr. Williams Atakora for his encouragement and for his collaboration and support during the production of this thesis.

I would like to express my thanks and appreciation to the director, staff, and professors at my school, UM6P's School of Agriculture, Fertilization and Environmental Sciences (ESAFE). I am thankful to the ESAFE program for providing invaluable support to help us develop qualified training experiences. Thanks to Professor Abdallah Oukarroum, director of ESAFE, Professor Khalid Oufdou, Professor Mohammed Boulif, Ismail Ghorbal, Soukaina Lamhani, and Oussama Elkacimi.

A special thanks goes to Professor Pauline Chiivenge and Professor Thérèse Agneroh for reviewing this thesis and providing their valuable time and advice.

Last, I would like to thank my mother, my father, and my brother for their personal support and for being my motivation, not only during this degree but during my whole career.

Thank you all!

CONTENTS

SUMM	ARY	1
СНАРТ	TER 1: INTRODUCTION	2
1.1	Background	2
1.2	Problem Statement	3
1.3	Activity Statement	3
1.4	Hypotheses	3
1.5	Objectives	4
1.6	Research Questions	4
1.7	Justification	4
СНАРТ	TER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	5
2.1	Maize Production and Consumption in Ghana	5
2.2	Maize Cropping System in Ghana	7
2.3	Yield and the Yield Gap Concept	8
2.4	Yield of Maize in Ghana	9
2.5	Systematic Modeling and Yield Simulation	10
2.6	Light Interception and Utilization Crop Model	10
СНАРТ	TER 3: METHODOLOGY	12
3.1	Study Area	12
3.2	Data	12
3.3	LINTUL-1 Crop Model	13
3.4	Calibration and Validation of the LINTUL-1 Crop Model	15
3.5	Potential Yield Simulation and Yield Gap Measurement	15
	3.5.1 Potential Yield Simulations	15
	3.5.2 Yield Gap Analysis	16
3.6	Potential Yield Map of Maize in Ghana	16
СНАРТ	TER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	18
4.1	Observed Yield in FERARI Field Experiments	18
4.2	LINTUL-1 Maize Calibration	18
4.3	Simulated Potential Maize Yield in the FERARI Study Locations Using LINTUL-1	19
4.4	Maize Yield Gap Quantification in FERARI Locations	22
4.5	Maize Yield Gap Explanation	25
4.6	Potential Yield Map of Maize	27
4.7	Discussion	27
	4.7.1 LINTUL-1 Validation	27
	4.7.2 Potential Maize Yield in Ghana	28
	4.7.3 Maize Yield Gap in Ghana	28
	4.7.4 Fertilizer Application and Yield Gap	28
	4.7.5 Yield Gap Analysis	29
4.8	Conclusion	31
APPEN	DICES	32
REFER	ENCES	36

TABLES

Table 1.	Treatments Used in FERARI Stations
Table 2.	Calibrated LINTUL-Maize Parameters to Simulate the Potential Yield of Maize in Ghana
Table 3.	Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test With Continuity Correction for Temperature Variability
Table 4. Table 5.	Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test With Continuity Correction for Solar Radiation20 AIC Multiple Linear Regression Model to Explain the Yield Gap of Maize26

FIGURES

Figure 1.	Increase in Demand for Maize in Ghana for Human Consumption, 1985-2010	.5
Figure 2.	Yield Variability Across the Years in Ghana	.5
Figure 3.	Quantity of Maize Imported in Ghana per Year, 1997-2022	.6
Figure 4.	Area Allocated for Maize Production in Ghana	.6
Figure 5.	Frequency of the Planting Date of Maize in Tamale	.8
Figure 6.	Various Yield Concepts and Their Driving Factors	.9
Figure 7.	Variability of the Potential Yield of Maize among Varieties	.9
Figure 8.	Cultivated Area and Actual Yield of Maize in Different Regions of Ghana1	0
Figure 9.	Relational Diagram of LINTUL-11	1
Figure 10.	FERARI Experimental Field Locations (left) and Selected Data Points at District	
	Level in Ghana (right)1	2
Figure 11.	Observed Maize Yield in FERARI Field Experiments, 20201	8
Figure 12.	Simulated LAI and Storage Organ Weight at Ejura Station1	9
Figure 13.	Adjusted Partitioning Coefficient of Dry Matter1	9
Figure 14.	Simulated Potential Yield, Maximum LAI, and Shoot Biomass in FERARI Field	
	Stations2	21
Figure 15.	Accumulated Temperature and Intercepted Photosynthetic Active Radiation in	
	FERARI Experiments2	21
Figure 16.	Intercepted Solar Radiation in the Field Experiments (Mj/m ²)2	21
Figure 17.	Temperature in the Field Experiments (°C)2	22
Figure 18.	Harvest Index Simulated by LINTUL-12	22
Figure 19.	Yield Gap in FERARI Stations2	23
Figure 20.	Yield Gap Variability Among Treatments in Ashanti Ayeduase Station2	23
Figure 21.	Yield Gap Variability Among Treatments in Ejura Station2	24
Figure 22.	Yield Gap Variability Among Treatments in Wenchi Station2	24
Figure 23.	Yield Gap Variability Among Treatments in Mampong Station2	25
Figure 24.	Accuracy of the MLR Model in Explaining the Yield Gap by the Covariates2	26
Figure 25.	(a) Potential Maize Yield in Ghana in 2017; (b) Intercepted Photosynthetic Active	
-	Radiation in June-September 20172	27

ABBREVIATIONS

Agroecological Zone
Agricultural Production Systems Simulator
Cation Exchange Capacity
Council of Scientific and Industrial Research
Decision Support System for Agrotechnology Transfer
Food and Agricultural Organization of United Nations
Growing Degree Day
Intercepted Photosynthetic Active Radiation
Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology
Leaf Area Index
Light Interception and Utilization
Multiple linear regression
Ministry of Food and Agriculture
Coefficient of Determination
Root Mean Square Error
Savanna Agricultural Research Institute
Variance Inflation Factor

SUMMARY

In Ghana, maize (*Zea mays*) is a crucial crop for achieving food security. The population of Ghana, which has grown exponentially over the past decades, consumes about 25% of its calories from maize. In order to assist in decisionmaking and guide investment in Ghana's agricultural intensification process, this study set out to quantify and explain the yield gap for maize using a new methodological approach. The yield gap for maize was found to range from 14% to 96%. The variation in the yield gap within a single station was related to the varying levels of yield obtained with different fertilizer treatments. None of the fertilizer combinations led to total closure of the gap in the studied locations. To identify the drivers for the yield gap, a multiple linear regression (MLR) analysis appeared to explain 68% of the yield difference. The main factors influencing the yield gap in the study areas were soil organic matter, soil water-holding capacity, root zone depth, rainfall, sulfur (S) fertilizer, and nitrogen (N) fertilizer. By adding 1% more soil organic matter, the gap could be reduced by 1.3 metric tons per hectare (mt/ha). However, an increase in the pH of the soil and the application of potassium fertilizer could increase the yield gap of maize in Ghana.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Ghana is considered a moderately food-insecure country, but the fast demographic growth rate of 2.63% annually (<u>https://www.statista.com</u>), the effects of climate change, and decreasing soil fertility, combined with the high cost of inputs and the low income of farmers, are major challenges to improving food security in Ghana. In fact, the health of a country's agriculture sector determines its overall economic growth and development. In Ghana, agriculture contributes to 19.25% of the gross domestic product (<u>https://www.statista.com</u>). According to the Food and Agricultural Organization of United Nations (FAO), only 8% of cultivated land in Ghana is under irrigation, leaving rainfall as the major source of water to cropping systems across the country.

Weather conditions are highly variable throughout Ghana. In the Sudan and Guinea Savannah agroecological zones (AEZs), the rainfall pattern is unimodal, whereas in the Rainforest, Deciduous Forest, Transitional, and Coastal Savannah AEZs, it is bimodal. The temperature also varies across the country; average daily temperature in the country is between 26.1°C and 28.9°C (Abbam et al., 2018), although it can reach 40°C in the northern part during the dry season (Asante and Amuakwa-Mensah, 2014). Rasul et al. (2011) noted that temperature is a determining factor for crop growth and development, as it impacts the duration of the crop cycle. But a study by Baffour-Ata et al. (2021) reported that temperature variability does not significantly affect crop production in the country. Rainfall strongly impacts the yield of the major crops in Ghana: maize, sorghum, rice, and millet. Rainfall across Ghana, particularly in the northern regions, is erratic and unequally distributed (Wortmann and Stewart, 2021). The extreme change in the rainfall pattern has the potential to affect crop yield and land productivity. In general, crop yield is extremely affected by unexpected drought (Hussain et al., 2019) and heat (Hatfield and Prueger, 2015).

Fertilizer use, primarily nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium (NPK), increased from 290,156 mt in 2015 to 425,110 mt in 2019 in an attempt to increase Ghana's low yields (https://statsghana.gov.gh). However, this has not lead to significant yield improvement. Adzawla et al. (2021) reported that the maximum maize yield achieved by farmers in the northern part of the country is 1.44 mt/ha, which is far below the potential yield estimated by the Ministry of Food and Agriculture (MoFA, 2018) of 5.5 mt/ha. This highlights the fact that poor soil fertility is not the only determinant of the large yield gap of 80% of the potential yield (Adjei-Nsiah, 2012). Therefore, a comprehensive approach to reassess the production gap in Ghana is required. Yield gap analyses may provide the foundation for this reassessment. The approach can provide a framework for identifying the most relevant crop, soil, and management factors that are limiting farm yields. In addition, the assessment of the yield gap can lead to the prioritization of research, development, and interventions with effective strategies to address the main issues (van Ittersum et al., 2013).

Crop modeling has been used to simulate the potential yield of several crops (Espe et al., 2016; Gimplinger and Kaul, 2009). LINTUL, a model developed by Spitters and Schapendonk (1990), is based on the light intercepted and light use efficiency to simulate crop growth and yield. LINTUL can assess the effect of weather variability on the yield by simulating the daily growth of the crop (Adiele et al., 2021). Several versions of LINTUL have been developed. LINTUL-1 simulates the potential yield (Haverkort et al., 2015), while LINTUL-2 is used to simulate the

water-limited yield (Moreno-Cadena et al., 2021). LINTUL is a simple model that requires few data. This will allow us to calculate the yield gap of maize in Ghana and explain the major constraints to achieving the potential yield in different AEZs.

1.2 Problem Statement

The increased use of fertilizer in Ghana has barely improved the yield of maize (Agyin-Birikorang et al., 2022; Adzawla et al., 2021), which indicates that soil fertility may not be the only problem farmers here are facing. Weather conditions across the country are highly variable. However, the weather conditions in the northern regions are more extreme than those in the south (Wortmann and Stewart, 2021). Identifying the effect of the weather variability on maize growth and yield is critical to understanding the drivers for the current low yields of maize.

Increasing the yield of maize in Ghana requires an understanding of the yield gap, the factors limiting the yield, and their interactions. Hence, quantifying the potential yield is critical. Field experiments to measure the potential yield are costly and time-consuming (Menge et al., 2013). Also, controlling all the biotic and abiotic stressors under field conditions is difficult. Indeed, crop growth simulation models have been suggested as a more appropriate way to estimate the yield gap because they provide the most reliable way to estimate yield potential and water-limited or exploitable yield (MacCarthy et al., 2018). Several models have been used in Ghana to simulate the potential yield, such as the Agricultural Production Systems Simulator (APSIM; Danquah et al., 2020) and Decision Support System for Agrotechnology Transfer (DSSAT; MacCarthy et al., 2018). The problem with these simulation models is that they require a lot of data about soil, crop, management, and weather (Nassiri Mahallati, 2020), which is not readily available for Ghana. LINTUL is a simplified crop growth simulation model with a low requirement for data compared to other detailed models. It is calibrated through crop parameters from a field experiment or from literature and uses meteorological data as input.

1.3 Activity Statement

Data from field trials of maize in 2020 were used to calibrate the basic parameters of LINTUL for use in Ghana. Radiation use efficiency, allocation coefficient of dry matter, and thermal time parameters should be derived from the field data and from the literature. The model will be considered valid for Ghana if the simulated potential yield is comparable to the reported potential yield in the literature, because the water supply for maize growth during these experiments was based on the rainfall, and therefore, it cannot be considered in the potential yield. To calibrate the model, the use of the best treatments is important to ensure that the crop performed as well as possible, close to the optimal conditions.

1.4 Hypotheses

H01 – LINTUL-1 is an effective crop model to simulate the potential yield of maize in Ghana.

- H02 The yield gap for maize in Ghana is high.
- H03 Fertilizer is not the only factor that determines the yield gap of maize in Ghana.

1.5 **Objectives**

- ➤ Calibrate LINTUL-1 for maize in Ghana.
- > Simulate the potential of maize in the FERARI study area.
- Simulate the potential yield of maize for the entire country of Ghana and build a potential yield map.
- > Calculate the yield gap of maize under different fertilizer applications for the study area.
- Build an empirical model based on FERARI field experiments to explain the yield gap in Ghana.

1.6 Research Questions

- > What is the potential yield of maize in Ghana, and what is the yield gap of maize?
- ▶ How do fertilizers contribute to closing the yield gap?
- What are the factors that explain the gap between the actual and potential yield of maize in Ghana?

1.7 Justification

The low yield of maize production in Ghana is a big concern for food security. To address this issue, it is important first to define the opportunity for increasing production. Accordingly, sustainable intensification implies the adoption of more efficient technologies, optimal inputs, and good management practices. This study aims to provide a new useful methodological approach based on systematic and mechanistic modeling of the potential yield and the yield gap of maize in Ghana. This approach is important to support the decisionmaking on strategic investments. In general, this approach will help to identify the main edaphic and ecological problems that inhibit farmers from achieving higher yields.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Maize Production and Consumption in Ghana

Maize is a major food crop in Ghana, accounting for more than half of the country's total cereal output. The Eastern, Ashanti, and Brong-Ahafo regions of Ghana produce approximately 80% of the total maize production. The remainder is supplied by the three northern regions (Northern, Upper East, and Upper West). Maize is cultivated throughout the country (Wongnaa et al., 2019). The high domestic demand for maize, either as food for humans as a source of 25% of calories consumed in the country (MoFA & IFPRI, 2020) or as feed for livestock, make it a valuable source of income for a large number of smallholder farmers in Ghana. The local consumption of maize in Ghana has increased by 14% over the years, from 39.5 kilograms (kg) to 45 kg per person annually (Figure 1). The increased demand for maize has not been matched by an increase in yield. However, a slight increase in yield was observed between 2005 and 2020 from 1 mt/ha to 1.9 mt/ha (Figure 2), which is far below the reported potential yield of 4-6 mt/ha (Ragasa et al., 2014). Importation is the primary option to meet the demand for maize (Figure 3), especially when the production is low due to drought, heat, or the prices of fertilizers (Barimah, 2014). In general, the production area of maize in Ghana has not changed much since 2008 (Figure 4) (https://www.statista.com/). Therefore, the increase in production is mainly dependent on rainfall and input use.





Figure 1. Increase in Demand for Maize in Ghana for Human Consumption, 1985-2010





Figure 2. Yield Variability Across the Years in Ghana



Source: https://www.indexmundi.com/.

Figure 3. Quantity of Maize Imported in Ghana per Year, 1997-2022



Source: https://www.statista.com/.

Figure 4. Area Allocated for Maize Production in Ghana

2.2 Maize Cropping System in Ghana

Maize production is dominated by a rainfed system rather than irrigation, which accounts for only 2% of the total arable lands in the country (Worqlul et al., 2019). Several hybrid and openpollinated varieties have been released to farmers. The Council of Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) has released more than 24 maize varieties with different ecologic properties or grain qualities. For example, Wang-dataa is a short-season, drought-tolerant variety, while *Obatanpa* is a long-season variety with a high grain quality (CSIR and MoFA, 2012). Water scarcity is becoming a serious problem in Ghana, especially in the northern regions, affecting the yield and the use efficiency of fertilizer.

The low application of fertilizer by smallholder farmers in Ghana limits production and suppresses the capacity of the land to achieve its potential. Generally, the recommended fertilizer is significantly different among the AEZs, because of the variability in the soil structure and fertility and due to climatic variability. MoFA recommends the application of 76 kg/ha N, 40 kg/ha P₂O₅, and 40 kg/ha K₂O, mainly from 15-20-20 and urea fertilizers, in the Guinea Savannah zone and 91 kg/ha N, 60 kg/ha P₂O₅, and 60 kg/ha K₂O from the same sources in the Forest-Savannah Transitional zone. For the Semi-Deciduous Forest zone, application of 60 kg/ha of N was reported to be efficient for farmers, as it results in the maximum possible net return (Essel et al., 2020).

The planting date of maize in Ghana is governed mostly by rainfall, but the availability of labor is another driver that can delay the planting date. Freduah et al. (2019) conducted a study in Tamale and classified the planting time as early (May), normal (June), and late (July) based on the frequency of farmer practice (Figure 5). Planting in the Savannah area is best done between May 16 and June 15. Early and late planting (April 15-May 15 and June 16-July 15) are preferable over the normal planting time (May 16-June 15) in the Guinea Savannah's Eastern Region. However, the best planting date is also a function of the variety planted. Further, plant density significantly affects the production of biomass (Khalid et al., 2018). In general, the sowing rate and germination percentage determine plant density, which controls establishment success, production, and eventually crop profitability. High plant density can result in more cobs per unit area under ideal water and fertilizer conditions, resulting in an increase in grain output (Al-Naggar et al., 2015). According to Buah et al. (2010), CSIR-Savanna Agricultural Research Institute (SARI) has advised 62,500 plants per hectare for the Guinea Savannah zone. In general, a planting density of 75 cm \times 40 cm, equal to 33,300 plants per hectare, is recommended for and commonly used in Ghana (Bawa, 2021).



Source: Freduah et al. (2019). *Figure 5. Frequency of the Planting Date of Maize in Tamale*

2.3 Yield and the Yield Gap Concept

Yield is defined as the grain weight per unit of land area (usually mt/ha) at the agreed-upon standard of moisture content of the grain, which could vary according to the crop and by country (Fischer, 2015). As consequence, the ideal moisture level is 13% for maize and 12% for rice and soybean, while it should not exceed 13.5% for wheat (<u>https://sesitechnologies.com</u>). Several concepts of yield are used and measured in the literature – potential yield, water-limited yield, experimental achievable yield, actual yield, and others. The actual yield is a result of the interaction of Environment × Genetics × Management and is the achievable yield by farmers (Morell et al., 2016). The theoretical potential yield is a function of different levels of growth and yield-defining factors, including radiation and temperature, which determine the potential yield. Insufficient availability of water and nutrients limits growth and yield to attainable yield, while pests and diseases may further reduce yields to the actual yield level (Figure 6; van Ittersum et al., 2013). Different levels of yield are important for calculating the yield gap, which is defined as the difference between the actual farmer's yield and the yield achieved in the experimental station where the conditions are mostly controlled (Rong et al., 2021).

The increase in the world population pushes the need for more food and stakes a claim on more resources. Hence, increasing the yield of various crops becomes a necessity in maintaining food security. Thus, yield gap analyses are important to identify the production potential of agricultural lands in the world. Studying the yield gap of various crops in an individual or multi-cropping system serves multiple purposes. First, this provides a framework for identifying the most relevant crop, soil, and management factors that are limiting farm yields as well as better practices that will help close the yield gap. Second, this serves in the prioritization of research, development, and implementation of interventions with effective strategies to address the main issues. Third, the results from such gap analyses are important in developing an economic model that effectively considers the food security and profitability of farmers (van Ittersum et al., 2013).





Figure 6. Various Yield Concepts and Their Driving Factors

2.4 Yield of Maize in Ghana

Several varieties of maize have been released in Ghana (Figure 7). But *Obatanpa*, a long-season variety, is the most adopted variety by farmers (Scheiterle and Birner, 2018). Early season varieties such as *Dozi* and *Wang-dataa* grow fast, which reduces the risk of loss to the yield due to drought (Sallah et al., 2009), but the fast growth of the crop decreases the physiologic time required to reach maturity, reducing the grain filling duration and, hence, the yield potential. However, the yield achieved by farmers is far below the potential yield. The current yield of maize in the northern regions does not exceed 2 mt/ha (Ifie et al., 2022). The yield is highly variable across Ghana (Figure 8). The low application of fertilizer accompanied by the low soil fertility often explain the yield, but other factors, such as climatic variability, management, and cultivated area, have contributed to the variability of the yield (van Loon et al., 2019).



Source: Author's creation, based on Adu et al. (2014). *Figure 7. Variability of the Potential Yield of Maize among Varieties*



Source: Author's creation, based on Ghana open data (<u>https://data.gov.gh/</u>) *Figure 8. Cultivated Area and Actual Yield of Maize in Different Regions of Ghana*

2.5 Systematic Modeling and Yield Simulation

Field experiments require a lot of resources and still do not offer sufficient data to identify the appropriate management practices to achieve sustainable intensification (Jones et al., 2017). Crop models are a collection of mathematical equations that describe how crop genetics, crop management practices, and the environment interact to affect crop yield. It is essentially a mathematical model of a cropping system. Crop models were introduced in the first half of the 20th century by Bavel (1953) and de Wit (1958), establishing the foundation for the use of simulation models for research in plant-soil systems.

The two types of crop models are mechanistic and empirical models. The mechanistic model permits the analysis of the complexities of the ecosystems it describes and provides insights into the system's dynamics in different conditions, as they are based on the basic underlying processes of the phenomenon to be explained (Niarakis and Helikar, 2021). Empirical models, known as correlative or statistical models, are used to describe relationships between variables and observed behavior (crop response) without explicitly considering underlying or interrelated processes. In general, empirical models identify the correlation between several variables and the yield, providing a projection of the future based on the estimation of the predictor's variables (Estes et al., 2013). Crop simulation models are widely used to support decisionmaking, especially under stressed conditions of weather, through rapid, effective, and low-cost evaluation of different management strategies (Murthy, 2004).

2.6 Light Interception and Utilization Crop Model

The Light Interception and Utilization (LINTUL) model was developed by Spitters and Schapendonk (1990). The model utilizes the light use efficiency of the crop to simulate the dry matter and the associated grain yield. However, several versions of the model are now available. LINTUL-1 simulates the potential yield (Spitters, 1990), LINTUL-2 simulates the water limited yield (Gimplinger and Kaul, 2009), and LINTUL-3 simulates the yield under nitrogen limitations (Kooistra et al., 2014). The model is based on a series of equations that interconnect the growth

processes based on the intercepted radiation, leaf area index (LAI), specific leaf area, light use efficiency, and dry matter production, while the development of the crop is a function of physiological time or thermal time (Figure 9).

The LINTUL model simulates the production of biomass based on Lambert-Beer's law (Foroutanpour et al., 2001). The partitioning of dry matter to different organs is a function of physiological development, or growing degree days (GDDs). GDDs are calculated from the summation of the days with an effective daily temperature during the growing season. Light use efficiency is derived from the linear relationship between dry matter production and the accumulated intercepted photosynthetic active radiation (Gimplinger and Kaul, 2009).



Source: Author's creation, based on Spitters and Schapendonk (1990).

Figure 9. Relational Diagram of LINTUL-1

CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY

3.1 Study Area

Ghana is a West African country located on the Gulf of Guinea between latitudes 4°N and 11°N and longitudes 4°W and 2°E, covering 23,884,245 hectares. The country is divided into 10 administrative regions and 216 districts, covering six different AEZs (Coastal Savannah, Evergreen Forest, Deciduous Forest, Transitional, Guinea Savannah, and Sudan Savannah). Generally, the average yearly temperature ranges between 26.1°C in the Western Region and 28.9°C in the northeast of the Upper East Region. Mean annual rainfall varies from about 1,000 millimeters (mm) along the northeast frontier of the Upper East to 2,200 mm along the southwest coast of the Western Region. The coastline barely receives 800 mm of rainfall per year; in general, this part of the country is considered an arid region (MoFA, 2015).

During the 2020 growing season, IFDC's FERARI program conducted several trials on maize. However, this study focuses on only eight stations: Ejura, Mampong, Nyankpala, Wenchi, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology (KNUST), Sunyani, and two locations in Ashanti – Ashanti Anwomaso and Ashanti Ayeduase) (Figure 8). To map the potential yield in Ghana, we selected 10 points in each district based on the vegetation band on the land use map of the country. However, the density of vegetation in some districts was not high, so only eight points were selected automatically.



Figure 10. FERARI Experimental Field Locations (left) and Selected Data Points at District Level in Ghana (right)

3.2 Data

The field data from FERARI experiments for 2020 were used to calibrate the LINTUL-1 crop model and determine different factors affecting the yield gap in the experiments. The soil data were obtained from the soil analysis conducted after taking samples at FERARI field stations (Figure 8; Appendix 1). Some general soil data, such as water-holding capacity and root zone

depth, were obtained from the ISRIC <u>SoilGrids</u> database Africa soil property map at a spatial resolution of 1 kilometer (km).

The weather data for FERARI trial locations and for the selected locations at the district level in Ghana were downloaded using the Google Earth Engine based on the coordinate system of each point. The Google Earth Engine extracted the weather data from ERA5, developed by ECMWF / Copernicus Climate Change Service ERA5 is an 11 km resolution map, and this is acceptable because the variance of weather data in a small-scale area is not excessive (Muñoz Sabater, 2019).

The data about fertilizer application and different treatment combinations used were obtained from the experimental protocol of FERARI field study of 2020 (Table 1).

Treatment	Ashanti Anwomaso	Ashanti Ayeduase	Ejura	KNUST	Mampong	Nyankpala	Sunyani	Wenchi
Control	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
NPK	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
NPK + S	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х
NPS	Х	Х	Х			Х		
NKS	Х	Х	Х			Х		
PS	Х	Х	Х			Х		
РК	Х	Х	Х			Х		
N(PR)KS	Х	Х	Х			Х		
N(P+PR)KS	Х	Х	Х			Х		
PKS	Х	Х	Х			Х		
NPK + Zn + S				Х	Х		Х	Х
NPK + Zn				Х	Х			Х
NPK + Zn + S + Fe							Х	Х
NPK + Zn + Fe								Х

Table 1.Treatments Used in FERARI Stations

3.3 LINTUL-1 Crop Model

LINTUL-1 is a mechanistic model that utilizes light interception and light use efficiency to simulate the yield. The intercepted photosynthetic active radiation (IPAR) is a function of daily total radiation, LAI, and the extinction coefficient of light (Spitters and Schapendonk, 1990), modeled using Eq. 1.

$$IPAR = RPAR \times (1 - e^{-k \times LAI})$$
 Eq. 1

RPAR is the photosynthetic active radiation part of the daily total radiation in the band from 400 nanometers (nm) to 700 nm, or 0.5 of the total radiation intercepted by the earth, *FPAR*. It is calculated using Eq. 2.

$$RPAR = FPAR \times DTR$$
 Eq. 2

LAI is a crop parameter in which its mode of growth over time is a function of crop development stage or of the total thermal time accumulated by the crop. During the juvenile stage, the growth of LAI follows an exponential function in Eq. 3. In general, the juvenile stage in the model is limited by an accumulated thermal time of 330 GDDs or when LAI attains a value of 0.75 m^2 (leaf)/m² (soil) (van Oijen and Leffelaar, 2010).

$$GLAI = LAI \times \frac{(e^{RGRL \times DTEFF \times DELT)} - 1)}{DELT}$$
 Eq. 3

When the number of GDDs is above 330, the growth of LAI (GLAI) depends on the amount of assimilate partitioned to the leaves multiplied by the specific leaf area (SLA) of the crop. In general, SLA used in the model is constant as long as the implementation of a dynamic model of the change in SLA will not improve the model simulation (Farré et al., 2000).

$$GLAI = SLA \times RWLV$$
 Eq. 4

Where the relative weight of the leaves (RWLV) is the change in the weight of the leaves.

Leaf senescence reduces the LAI and the leaf weight and is a function of leaf death due to aging (RDRDV) or shading (RDRSH). Leaf death (RDR) is cited as the maximum between RDRDV and RDRSH. RDRDV is only after anthesis, while the RDRSH is a function of the LAI itself. When the LAI reaches a critical value (LAI_{cr}), the PAR does not reach the leaf in the bottom part of the crop because it is shaded by the upper leaf. RDRSHM is a standard value used to calculate RDRSH.

$$RDRSH = RDRSHM \times \frac{(LAI - LAI_{CR})}{LAI_{CR}}$$
 Eq. 5

LAI reduction due to leaf death or senescence (DLAI) is therefore quantified by Eq. 6.

$$DLAI = RDR \times LAI$$

Therefore, the change in LAI becomes RLAI (Eq. 7).

$$RLAI = GLAI - DLAI$$
 Eq. 7

RWLV is a function of the partitioning coefficient of dry matter to the leaves multiplied by the total produced biomass. The partitioning coefficient of dry matter to the leaves (FLV), to the stem (FST), to the roots (FRT), and to the storage organs (FSO) follows the development stage of the crop. During the vegetative stage and under the potential conditions, most of the dry matter is allocated to the leaves, then to the roots and the stems. During the reproductive stage, the crop allocates the dry matter more to the storage organs.

$$RWLV = GTOTAL \times FLV$$

$$RWLVG = GTOTAL \times FLV - RWLVD$$

$$Leaf growth rate$$

$$RWST = GTOTAL \times FST$$

$$Steam growth rate$$

$$RWRT = GTOTAL \times FRT$$

$$Root growth rate$$

$$RWSO = GTOTAL \times FSO$$

$$Storage Organ growth rate$$

GTOTAL is the total dry matter produced by the process of photosynthesis. As already explained, the model is a summary of interconnected equations and the GTOTAL is a function of IPAR (Eq. 1) and the radiation use efficiency (RUE) of the crop. RUE is measured from the field experiment as the slope of the linear regression line between the dry matter produced and IPAR.

$$GTOTAL = \frac{dw}{dt} = RUE \times IPAR$$
Eq. 9
$$W = RUE \times \int_{0}^{T} IPAR$$
Eq. 10

The model considers the RUE as a constant during the crop cycle, assuming a linear relationship between the intercepted radiation and the dry matter assimilation.

3.4 Calibration and Validation of the LINTUL-1 Crop Model

To calibrate the LINTUL-1 crop model, we selected the treatment within one of the stations in which the yield was the highest (Section 4.1). In general, the higher yield was considered where the crop grew close to its optimal conditions. The selected station was used to calibrate the LINTUL-1 crop model by calculating the accumulated temperature to anthesis and to maturity. In addition, the partitioning coefficients were proportionally adjusted based on the difference of the temperature required to reach maturity in the original version of the model (Farré et al., 2000) and the temperature needed to reach maturity in the study area.

Calibration of radiation use efficiency, relative growth of the leaves, and the specific leaf area was based on data from a literature review. The sowing date and the harvest date used in the simulation were matched with the sowing date from the field experiment.

3.5 Potential Yield Simulation and Yield Gap Measurement

3.5.1 Potential Yield Simulations

The potential yield at FERARI field experimental sites was simulated using the LINTUL-1 model, calibrated for Ghana, with temperature and solar radiation as inputs. The simulation date in the model was the same as the growing season of maize in each location (Appendix 2). A non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used to study the variability of the temperature recorded in different field experiment locations. The Kruskal-Wallis test is based on ranking observations and does not require the assumption of normality. It compares the medians of three or more unpaired groups. Values are sorted from low to high, and analyses are based on how those rankings are distributed. Ranks are summed for each group, and disparities between sums are merged in a statistic that follows an x^2 distribution (Simoni et al., 2011). The same test was used to study the

variability of the intercepted solar radiation at different locations. The simulated potential yield was used to measure the yield gap based on the observed yield in FERARI experimental stations.

3.5.2 Yield Gap Analysis

Multiple linear regression (MLR) was used to identify the factors contributing to and explaining the yield gap in the FERARI experimental dataset, using yield gap as a dependent variable (y) and other covariate as independent variables (X1, X2, X3, X4, X5, Xn), where β is the regression coefficient of each covariate (Eq. 11). The dataset, including the yield gap and all the covariates (soil data, fertilizer application rates, and rainfall), was split into two parts: 70% of the dataset was used for training and building the regression model and 30% was used to test the model.

The MLR was built using a stepwise approach, based on a bidirectional elimination method. The stepAIC function was called from MASS package (<u>https://cran.r-project.org/package=MASS</u>) in RStudio. Overall, the AIC method selects the best model over several possible models based on the stepAIC value, the model with the minimal value selected. AIC uses the highest likelihood estimate (*L*) and the number of independent variables (*K*) in the model to calculate the relative information value of the model (Eq. 12; Lord et al., 2021).

However, to improve the accuracy and reduce the standard error, the model selected by stepAIC was checked for multicollinearity using the variance inflation factor (VIF) method in R, which determines how much the variance of a regression coefficient is inflated because of model multicollinearity. The VIF function in R programming was installed from the CAR package (https://cran.r-project.org/package=car). Accordingly, the highly correlated variables were dropped from the dataset, and the process was repeated until stepAIC selected the best model with non-multicollinearity at a VIF < 10, which is considered a tolerant level of multicollinearity according to Kim (2019).

The selected regression model was tested using 30% of the dataset randomly selected for this purpose. The root mean square error (RMSE) and the coefficient of determination (R^2) were used to test the accuracy of the model. The RMSE, which is the square root of the mean of the square of all of the error between the predicted yield gap (Pg) and the observed gap (Og; Eq. 13), and the R^2 show the fraction of variance in the dependent variable that the independent variable can explain; it is measured as ratio between the sum of squares due to regression (SSregression) and the total sum of squares (SStotal; Eq. 14).

$$y = \beta 0 + \beta 1xi1 + \beta 2xi2 + \dots + \beta pxipn + \epsilon$$
 Eq. 11

$$AIC = 2K - 2\ln(L)$$
 Eq. 12

$$RMSE = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{g=0}^{n} (Og - Pg)^2$$
 Eq. 13

$$R^2 = \frac{SSregression}{SStotal}$$
 Eq. 14

3.6 Potential Yield Map of Maize in Ghana

Based on the selected points at the district level (Section 3.1), the weather data was extracted from ERA5, based on Google Earth Engine. To simulate the potential yield at each point, the LINTUL-

1, calibrated based on FERARI experiments, was applied. Since June 1 is widely regarded as the ideal planting date in nearly all of Ghana (Adu et al., 2014), the sowing date in the model was set to that day to simulate the possible yield for each location. The simulated potential yield at each point was used to calculate the average potential yield at each district in the country, and after that, the average potential yield was mapped using software (package and function). To explain the large variability in the potential yield, a second map of intercepted photosynthetic active radiation was created using the QGIS geographic information software.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Observed Yield in FERARI Field Experiments

The observed yield was significantly different among the study sites. However, the observed yield in Ashanti Ayeduase (0.8 mt/ha) was not significantly different from the observed yield in Nyankpala (0.9 mt/ha), and the observed yields in Mampong (0.2 mt/ha) and Sunyani (0.3 mt/ha) were not significantly different (Figure 11). The yield obtained in Ejura (p < 0.01) was significantly the highest among all the study sites. Looking more closely at Ejura (Figure 11), we found that the application of NPS fertilizer gave the highest yield (6 mt/ha). The purpose of this comparison is to take the highest yield among stations and among fertilizer treatments and to consider it as the closest to the potential yield. Therefore, the fact that the difference in yields is not significant between the fertilizer treatments means our choice to use NPS fertilizer for LINTUL-1 calibration will not be a factor in the results.



Figure 11. Observed Maize Yield in FERARI Field Experiments, 2020

4.2 LINTUL-1 Maize Calibration

Maturity of maize in the field experiment occurred on average 95 days after planting, while anthesis occurred 55-57 days after planting. This has been confirmed by SARI for the *Omankwa* variety used in Ejura. Accordingly, using the crop data and the weather data of the Ejura station, the temperature sum (Tsum) from emergence to maturity was adjusted from an original value of 1750 GDDs to a calculated value of 1796 GDDs, while the Tsum from emergence to anthesis was adjusted from 970 GDDs to 1027 GDDs. In addition, the partitioning coefficients were adjusted based on the Tsum from plantation to maturity calculated from the field (Table 2; Figure 12). The recalibrated LINTUL-1 model was able to simulate 6.9 mt/ha as the potential yield of maize in Ejura station, while the observed yield was 6 mt/ha. In addition, the model was able to simulate a maximum LAI of $5.1 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2$ (Figure 13).

Table 2.Calibrated LINTUL-Maize Parameters to Simulate the Potential Yield of Maize
in Ghana

Parameters	Original Value	Source	Recalibrated Value	Source
Tsum Maturity	1750 GDD	Farré et al. (2000)	1796 GDD	Calculated
Tsum Anthesis	970 GDD	Farré et al. (2000)	1027 GDD	Calculated
SLA	0.016 m ² g ⁻¹	Farré et al. (2000)	$0.032 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1}$	Srivastava et al. (2020)
Relative Growth Rate of Leaf Area	0.009 1/(deg. C d)	Farré et al. (2000)	0.02 1/(deg. C d)	Srivastava et al. (2020)



Figure 12. Simulated LAI and Storage Organ Weight at Ejura Station



Figure 13. Adjusted Partitioning Coefficient of Dry Matter

4.3 Simulated Potential Maize Yield in the FERARI Study Locations Using LINTUL-1

The simulated potential yield of maize in on-station FERARI trials ranges between 5.5 mt/ha and 6.9 mt/ha (Figure 14). Overall, the maximum potential yield for maize was simulated in Ejura (6.9 mt/ha), followed by Wenchi (6.4 mt/ha), while the lowest potential yield was simulated at Ashanti (5.5 mt/ha).

The maximum LAI, which occurs at the end of the vegetative stage and by the beginning of anthesis, was simulated in Mampong $(5.3 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2)$, while the lowest was simulated in Ashanti $(4.2 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2)$ (Figure 14). LAI, intercepted solar radiation, and temperature are the major factors driving the simulation of the assimilation of carbon dioxide and production of dry matter. The highest intercepted solar radiation was recorded in Ejura and Wenchi at 389.3 Mj/m² and 393.7 Mj/m², respectively, while the lowest IPAR was recorded in Ashanti (Figure 15). The difference in IPAR led to different levels of photosynthetic activity of maize in different stations, which impacted the assimilation level on the model equations and finally on the simulated potential yield. The Wilcoxon test shows that the daily variability of temperature (Figure 17) and intercepted radiation (Figure 16) were significantly different among stations (Tables 3 and 4). Temperature particularly drives crop development in the model by governing the partitioning coefficient of dry

matter and through its effect on the occurrence of the development stage in the model. In general, temperature fluctuation affects the duration of the maize development stage between locations. However, the development stage occurrence of maize from the observed data and from the simulated data was not significantly different with the change in the temperature between different experimental locations; anthesis basically occurred 60-64 days after planting, except in Mampong, where anthesis occurred 67 days after planting. Maturity in the study location occurred mainly 96 days after planting.

However, the temperature difference between the period of development before anthesis and after anthesis affected the simulated harvest index, which altered the simulated shoot biomass and grain yield (Figure 18). For example, the daily average temperature in Mampong before anthesis (15.59°C) was lower than in Wenchi (16.59°C), which caused the vegetative growth to take 67 days in Mampong and only 62 days in Wenchi. But the average daily temperature after anthesis in Mampong (20.27°C) was higher than in Wenchi (19.79°C), which reduced the grain-filling period and yield. On the other hand, the temperature in Ejura was higher than in Wenchi in both cases, before (17°C) and after anthesis (20.58°C). However, the simulated shoot biomass and the simulated grain yield was higher in Ejura, which is explained by the high IPAR in Ejura compared to Wenchi. In addition, the high grain yield simulated in Ejura was associated with the high IPAR after the anthesis period. In general, the IPAR in Mampong was high during vegetative growth (before anthesis) compared to Ejura, resulting in a high simulated shoot biomass at that station (Figure 14).

Both the intercepted photosynthetic active radiation and temperature variability among locations and between the crop growth stages cause different simulated yields of maize. However, its appears that the amount of intercepted solar radiation has more effect on the harvest index simulated by the LINTUL-1 model.

	Ashanti	Ejura	Mampong	Nyankpala	Sunyani
Ejura	***				
Mampong	***	***			
Nyankpala	***	***	***		
Sunyani	***	***	***	***	
Wenchi	***	***	***	*	*

Table 3.	Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test With Continuity Correction for Temperature
	Variability

***: p = 0, *: p < 0.01.

Table 4.	Wilcoxon	Rank Sum	Test With	<i>Continuity</i>	Correction	for Solar	[•] Radiation
				2		./	

	Ashanti	Ejura	Mampong	Nyankpala	Sunyani
Ejura	***		-	-	-
Mampong	***	no-sig		-	-
Nyankpala	***	***	***	-	-
Sunyani	***	*	***	***	
Wenchi	***	***	***	*	no-sig

***: p = 0, *: p < 0.01



Figure 14. Simulated Potential Yield, Maximum LAI, and Shoot Biomass in FERARI Field Stations



Figure 15. Accumulated Temperature and Intercepted Photosynthetic Active Radiation in FERARI Experiments



Figure 16. Intercepted Solar Radiation in the Field Experiments (Mj/m²)



Figure 17. Temperature in the Field Experiments (°C)



Figure 18. Harvest Index Simulated by LINTUL-1

4.4 Maize Yield Gap Quantification in FERARI Locations

The yield gap is significantly different between the study areas. The highest yield gap (96.4%) was measured in Mampong, while the lowest yield gap (14%) was measured in Ejura with the application of NPS fertilizer at rate of 18-20-0+10S (Figure 19). Within the same station, the yield gap differed due to the application of different fertilizers. For example, in Wenchi station, with the application of NPKS at rate of 120-40-40+15S, a yield gap of 39% was measured, which is significantly ($p \approx 0$) lower compared to all the other treatments. Similarly, in Ashanti Anwomaso and Ashanti Ayeduase, the lowest yield gap was measured with the NPKS treatment at rate of 120-40-40+15S at an average of 72% and 85%, respectively (Appendix 3; Figure 20). Additionally, in Ashanti Ayeduase, the only yield gap significantly different from the control was with the application of NPK and NPKS (Figure 20). Furthermore, the lowest yield gap (14%) was with NPS at a rate of 18-20-0+10S. Even so, it was not significantly different from the yield gap (21%) in the NPK fertilizer treatment at rate of 18-20-25. However, the yield gap decreased more with the application of NPS than with the application of NPK (Figure 21). In general, this finding shows the positive effect of the application of sulfur fertilizer to increase the yield and reduce the yield gap compared to the application of only NPK. More results regarding the treatments in different study areas are presented in the Appendices 4, 5, and 6.

In Wenchi, the application of NPK plus zinc (Zn) at a rate of 120-40-40+2.5Zn had no considerable influence on the yield gap when compared to the application of NPK alone at a rate of 120-40-40

(Figure 22). Similar results were obtained in Mampong, where the difference in the yield gap between NPK and NPK+Zn was not significant (Figure 23). We also found that the application of iron (Fe) has no effect on the yield gap in this study. Furthermore, the yield gap in the treatment with NPK+Zn+Fe at rate of 120-40-40-2.5Zn in Wenchi is significantly higher than the yield gap in the treatment where only NPK+Zn at rate of 120-40-40-2.5Zn was applied. Further, when comparing the control and NPK+Zn+Fe treatment, the yield gap is not significantly different (Figure 22).

The yield gap in Mampong (Figure 23) is very high, and that is because of the low achieved yield with the application of different fertilizer or without fertilizer in this station. In general, the reason behind these unexpected results needs more investigation.



Figure 19. Yield Gap in FERARI Stations



Figure 20. Yield Gap Variability Among Treatments in Ashanti Ayeduase Station



Figure 21. Yield Gap Variability Among Treatments in Ejura Station



Figure 22. Yield Gap Variability Among Treatments in Wenchi Station



Figure 23. Yield Gap Variability Among Treatments in Mampong Station

4.5 Maize Yield Gap Explanation

To explain the yield gap variability and to explore the main factors driving the gap other than fertilizer, regression analysis was performed. The AIC stepwise statistical methodology identifies the most relevant variables among all the possible linear models that could explain the yield gap. The model selected by AIC was tested for multicollinearity, and the highly correlated variables were dropped in further analyses (Appendix 6). In general, multicollinearity existed between pH, cation exchange capacity (CEC), base saturation of the soil, concentration of micronutrients in the soil, and soil texture. Among the highly correlated variables, we kept only the pH as an explanative variable because its VIF value (3.66) was in the tolerance level of multicollinearity (VIF < 10) after the other correlated variables were dropped from the model. Indeed, removing those variables did not affect the explanatory power (\mathbb{R}^2) of the outcome.

Accordingly, the best model identified by AIC explained the yield gap by soil organic matter content, amount of rainfall, root zone depth, amount of fertilizer applied, soil texture, soil pH, and available phosphorus in the soil solution (Table 5). This model was able to explain 68.9% of the variability, with an RMSE of 774.3 kg/ha (Figure 24).

Soil organic matter content has a highly significant ($p \approx 0$) effect on the yield gap of maize. Increasing organic matter by one unit reduced the yield gap by 1,364 kg/ha. The water-holding capacity of the root zone also significantly contributed to the yield gap (p < 0.01). The correlation between the yield gap and soil water-holding capacity was negative, which means increasing the ability of the soil to retain water will reduce the yield gap. In general, increasing the water-holding capacity by one unit reduces the yield gap by 302 kg/ha. Furthermore, the root zone depth significantly ($p \approx 0$) explains the gap, with a coefficient equal to -36.8 kg/ha. The AIC model considers only N and S fertilizer application as important variables to explain the yield gap. Application of 1 kg/ha of nitrogen reduced the gap by 12 kg/ha, while 1 kg/ha of sulfur reduced it by 15.5 kg/ha. Even though nitrogen reduced the yield gap, the effect was still very low, which

reflects the low N use efficiency in the study areas. The importance of sulfur as a secondary micronutrient is also highlighted by these results. The model selected by AIC does not consider phosphorus and potassium as explanative variables. However, a multilinear model with the covariates selected by AIC with the addition of phosphorus and potassium as explanative variables (Table 5) was tested. This shows that phosphate and potassium fertilizer did not significantly affect the yield gap of maize in the study areas.

These findings identified a contribution of the soil structure and chemical proprieties to the maize yield in the study areas, which reveals that the gap is not solely caused by fertilizer application rate, but also soil organic matter, soil pH, soil water-holding capacity, and root zone depth. Rainfall also contributes to the yield gap, as an increase in the amount of rain reduced the gap by 12 kg/ha. Soil organic matter, soil pH, and water-holding capacity are the factors that contribute most to closing the yield gap.

Covariate	Estimate	Std. Error	T value	Sig
Intercept	16456.649	1434.083	11.475	***
Root zone depth	-36.8347	4.3469	-8.474	***
Rainfall	-12.4368	0.8601	-14.46	***
Nitrogen fertilizer	-12.7335	1.6918	-7.527	***
Sulfur fertilizer	-15.5808	8.3081	-1.875	•
Iron fertilizer	103.6477	39.3137	2.636	**
Phosphate rock	3.5896	1.5716	2.284	*
pН	565.6731	132.5054	4.269	***
Organic matter	-1364.609	154.4637	-8.834	***
Soil phosphorus	-2.9206	0.7118	-4.103	***
Water-holding capacity	-302.0255	119.1135	-2.536	*

 Table 5.
 AIC Multiple Linear Regression Model to Explain the Yield Gap of Maize

***: p = 0, *: p < 0.01, .: p < 0.05



Figure 24. Accuracy of the MLR Model in Explaining the Yield Gap by the Covariates

4.6 Potential Yield Map of Maize

Based on LINTUL-1, the Coastal Savannah and Guinea Savannah AEZs have very high simulated potential yields, ranging from 5.5 mt/ha to 8 mt/ha, while the Semi-Deciduous Forest and Western Region AEZs have relatively low potential yields, in the range of 2-5 mt/ha. In the Transitional AEZ, maize has a potential yield of 5-6 mt/ha (Figure 25a). A map of the total intercepted radiation was created to explain this fluctuation in the potential yield (Figure 25b). The variability in IPAR in Ghana greatly explains the potential yield. For instance, the total IPAR throughout the maize growing season was quite high in the Coastal and Guinea Savannah AEZs; as a result, LINTUL-1 simulated a high potential yield for this region at more than 6.5 mt/ha. Similarly, LINTUL-1 simulated a low potential yield for the Western Region because of the lower IPAR.



Figure 25. (a) Potential Maize Yield in Ghana in 2017; (b) Intercepted Photosynthetic Active Radiation in June-September 2017

4.7 Discussion

4.7.1 LINTUL-1 Validation

Using a light use efficiency crop model, this study was done to calculate the potential yield and yield gap of maize in Ghana. The stations where the field experiments were conducted had a fluctuating simulated potential yield between 5.5 mt/ha and 6.9 mt/ha. Similar results were reported by MacCarthy et al. (2018). In addition, LINTUL-1 simulated a potential yield of 6.2 mt/ha for the Nyankpala Region, which is about 10 miles away from Tamale, where MacCarthy et al. (2018) reported a potential yield of 6.4 mt/ha using the DSSAT crop model. The potential yield simulated in this study in the northern regions of Ghana ranged between 6 mt/ha and 8 mt/ha. Previously, Abdulai et al. (2015) reported 6 mt/ha as the potential yield in northern Ghana, which is in agreement with our findings in this study. Furthermore, the potential yield of several maize varieties in Ghana was reported to be in the range of 4-6 mt/ha (IFDC and USAID,

2016), which is lower than what was simulated in this study. This would be expected because the value assigned to each variety was based on the highest yield achieved in a farm experiment in which the stressors are not completely managed.

4.7.2 Potential Maize Yield in Ghana

In this study, the potential maize yield was higher in the northern regions compared to the southwestern region of Ghana. Interestingly, the IPAR in each region basically followed the same trend as the potential yield. According to Yang et al. (2021), one of the major causes of the variability in the yield potential between various regions of the world is the unequal distribution of solar radiation, as different solar radiation levels are caused by variability in the cloud cover index between different regions. In Ghana, the cloud cover index is high in the Rainforest zone, where less solar radiation reaches the ground level compared to the Savannah, where the cloud cover index is lower (Tanu et al., 2021) (Appendix 7). This phenomenon is reflected in our finding for the IPAR and the potential yield variability in Ghana. This study sets a strong basis for analyzing yield potential, but further improvement may be needed to quantify the potential maize yield more accurately in Ghana through improved calibration and with experimental data throughout the entire country.

4.7.3 Maize Yield Gap in Ghana

The yield gap in this study was measured as the difference between the theorical potential yield simulated by LINTUL-1 and the yield attained in the experimental sites. This approach has been used in several studies to quantify the yield gap (van Ittersum and Cassman, 2013; Boling et al., 2021). The yield gap quantified in the study location was between 14% and 96.4%. Similar values for the maize yield gap were reported by van Loon et al. (2019), ranging from 67% to 87%, but for water-limited yield. In general, the yield gap of maize in Ghana is very high compared to the average gap in West Africa of 20-36% (Danquah et al., 2020).

4.7.4 Fertilizer Application and Yield Gap

The findings of this study clearly demonstrate that combining sulfur with NPK fertilizer reduces the yield gap. In Wenchi, for example, the yield gap in the NPKS treatment was lower than the yield gap in the NPK treatment. Sulfur's usefulness in increasing maize production has already been reported by Sutar (2017), who argued that increased sulfur content in the soil leads to increased nitrogen uptake. Similarly, Kugbe et al. (2019) found that the application of 11.3 kg of sulfur, 1.3 kg of zinc, and 1.3 kg of boron with NPK increased maize yield by 26%. Sulfur plays a key role in maize metabolism, as it is required for the synthesis of essential amino acids, such as cysteine, cystine, and methionine. As a result of its relationship with the protein structure, sulfur has an effect on crop quality (Sutar et al., 2018).

Zinc had a non-significant effect on the yield gap in this study. This may indicate that the soil has sufficient Zn in the solution. A soil analysis for Wenchi and Mampong shows a Zn level of 3.8 mg/kg and 4.9 mg/kg, respectively, which is above the required threshold (0.90-1.65 mg/kg) for maize to show a significant response (Eteng and Asawalam, 2017). In addition, the application of iron did not contribute to decreasing the yield gap. In general, the yield gap in the treatment NPK+Zn+S+Fe was higher than the yield gap in the treatment NPK+ZN+S. Similarly, the gap observed in the NPK+Zn+Fe treatment was higher than the gap in the NPK+Zn treatment. The decreased yield with application of iron could be due to a toxicity effect of this element. Toxicity

has been confirmed by Chérif et al. (2009), who found that around 50% of lowlands in West Africa are under iron toxicity stress, which has a significant negative effect on the crop yield. In addition, Annan et al. (2010) found the iron concentration to be high in some crops cultivated in Ghana, such as *Ocimum canum (8), Clausena anisate,* and *Rauwolfia vomitoria*. Further studies and analysis are needed to explore why iron application decreased the yield of maize.

4.7.5 Yield Gap Analysis

Closing the yield gap in maize production in Ghana has so far been associated with increased fertilizer use, as well as increased use of improved seeds, herbicides, and mechanization (Wahab et al., 2022). However, in this study, we explored the effects of several factors on the yield gap, including fertilizer application, soil chemical proprieties, and weather conditions. The application of fertilizer, especially NPKS, increased the yield of maize and reduced the yield gap in Ghana. However, a wide gap still exists between the observed yield and the potential yield. This was also observed by Adzawla et al. (2021a). In general, the yield gap of maize in Ghana is the result of genetic-environmental-management interactions factors. Instead of fertilizer application, several studies have indicated that interactions among three biophysical constraints – poor soil fertility, low plant water availability, and climate variability – are the main causes for the low maize yield (Danquah et al., 2020).

4.7.5.1 Soil Organic Matter

The results of this study show that low soil organic matter was the major factor driving the yield gap. Increasing the organic matter content in the soil by 1% will reduce the yield gap by 1.3 mt/ha. These findings are comparable to those of Kane et al. (2021), who found that increasing the organic matter content in the soil by 1% enhanced maize production by 2.2 mt/ha under dry conditions. Soil organic matter in the study locations ranged from 0.89% to 3.30%, which is on the lower end; a fertile soil should contain at least 4% organic matter (Logah et al., 2011). Soil organic matter has a major role in the cropping system in Ghana, due to its impact on physical, chemical, and biological factors, such as soil water retention, nutrient cycling, and plant root development. Additionally, Oldfield et al. (2019) mentioned that increasing the soil organic matter in maize production from 0.86% to 3.44% could reduce the need for nitrogen fertilizer by 70%.

4.7.5.2 Soil pH

Soil pH is the second largest contributor to the yield gap in the study locations (Table 5). The yield gap typically increases by 565 kg/ha when the pH increases by one unit. This is contrary to the findings of The et al. (2006), who reported that increasing soil pH improved the yield of maize because it improved the soil CEC and reduced the aluminum and iron oxide in the soil solution, increasing the availability of nutrients.

The soil pH in the study areas ranged from neutral to moderately acidic (4.94-6.67). According to Baquy et al. (2018), this is higher than the desired pH for maize growth, which is between 4.46 and 5.07, depending on the type of soil. The soil pH for the area studied by The et al. (2006) was between 4.67 and 5.10, which is lower than the pH in our study areas. The pH would need to increase by 0.27 to push it to the range in our study. Soil pH has been reported to not be a good indicator for the possible effect of acidity on crop yields compared to the aluminum concentration (Fox, 1979). However, the soil pH in maize production is recommended to be kept above 5.5 to

avoid any chemical change in the soil solution and to avoid an interaction with chemical inputs, particularly herbicides, which could injure the crop (Marsh and Lloyd, 1996).

4.7.5.3 Rainfall and Moisture in the Soil

Rainfall, soil water-holding capacity, and root zone depth all significantly explain the yield gap. The low amount of rainfall appeared to increase the yield gap in the study areas. The low water-holding capacity of the soil is accompanied by a low capacity of the soil to support crop growth under severe drought, leading to the loss of the available forms of nutrients and organic matter through erosion and runoff (Amegashie et al., 2012). Several studies support the findings from this study. For example, Yangyuoru et al. (2009) proved that different levels of soil moisture or water-holding capacity result in different grain and dry matter yields in maize production. The importance of soil moisture was also determined by Admasu et al. (2017), who found moisture stress during different growth stages of maize to lead to different levels of yield. This indicates that sufficient moisture in the soil is required during the development and maturity stages of maize.

In this study, an increase in the soil water-holding capacity by one unit decreased the yield gap by 302 kg/ha. A high soil water-holding capacity strongly mediates the effect of low and erratic rainfall through supplying the crop water demand (Williams et al., 2016). Jiao et al. (2017) also observed that a high water-holding capacity stabilizes the yield of maize under variable rainfall.

4.7.5.4 Phosphate and Potassium Fertilizer

In general, the MLR stepwise model indicates that variability in the phosphorus fertilizer application from 20 kg/ha to 40 kg/ha and the variability in potassium application from 25 kg/ha to 40 kg/ha did not significantly explain the yield gap of maize in the study locations. Even so, the increase in phosphate fertilizer by 1 kg reduced the yield gap of maize by 8 kg/ha. This appears contradictory to findings in the literature. For example, Logah et al. (2014) did several experiments in Ejura and Ashanti Anwomaso and found that the application of 60 kg/ha of phosphate fertilizer significantly improved the yield of maize compared with the application of 30 kg/ha. Additionally, 60 kg/ha of phosphate fertilizer was also recommended for maize production by Adu et al. (2014). Moreover, Owusu-Bennoah et al. (1995) reported that the soils in Ghana are highly deficient in phosphorus, which means that the yield should positively respond to the application of phosphorus.

Increasing the potassium fertilizer increased the maize yield gap. However, different results were obtained by Adu et al. (2014), who recommended the application of 60 kg/ha of potassium fertilizer for maize in Ghana. Atakora et al. (2014) reported that increasing potassium fertilizer from 0 to 90 kg/ha increased yield from 2.5 mt/ha to 2.7 mt/ha. The exchangeable potassium in the study areas was between 0.01 mEq/100 g and 0.49 mEq/100 g, which is already less than the critical level of potassium in soil to grow maize of 0.6 mEq/100 g (Adeoye and Agboola, 1985). Basically, this indicates that application of potassium fertilizer should increase the yield of maize and reduce the gap, which did not happen in this case. However, some studies have reported that both deficient and excessive levels of potassium can inhibit the activity of carbon-metabolizing enzymes in leaves and limit photosynthesis through stomatal restrictions (Xu et al., 2020).

4.8 Conclusion

This study found that the LINTUL-1 model can simulate the potential yield of maize in different AEZs in Ghana. The potential yield map clearly shows a great potential for maize production in the northern regions due the high interception of photosynthetic active radiation. The simulation shows that the effect of temperature on the potential yield of maize is negligible compared to the effect of solar radiation.

Based on the data collected from eight different locations, a multiple linear regression model enhanced by Akaike information criterion explained 68% of the yield gap. Several factors other than fertilizer were found to explain the yield gap of maize. This study shows the importance of soil organic matter, soil water-holding capacity, root zone depth, rainfall, and fertilizer, particularly nitrogen and sulfur, in explaining the yield gap. It also shows that increasing soil organic matter by 1% increases maize yield by 1.3 mt/ha. Given the advantages and significance of soil organic matter, this discovery may help farmers manage their fields and focus their investments. In addition, pH variability can negatively influence the yield of maize, thus increasing the yield gap. However, a new finding is that increasing soil pH to 6 was widely reported to improve the yield of maize and other crops.

This study also highlights that sulfur has already become the fourth major nutrient for the production of maize in Ghana. In general, the application of sulfur shows a higher yield compared to the application of potassium. The recommended application of NPK only may need to be complemented with the addition of sulfur to increase maize yield. This study makes a valuable contribution to help and support decisionmaking in sustainable investments to improve the yield of maize in Ghana, indicating that not only the fertilizer should be considered when producing maize, but also improvement in the soil organic matter content, which will improve the water retention capacity and soil fertility. All of these factors will lead to closing the yield gap of maize in Ghana.

The methodology used in this study was efficient in quantifying and explaining two-thirds of the yield gap of maize in Ghana. Further studies are needed to quantify the water-limited yield in Ghana, which may help to provide a more comprehensive explanation for the yield gap caused by edaphic and management factors rather than radiation and temperature alone. In general, the production system in Ghana is based on rainfall, a main driver for yield, along with soil water-holding capacity and root zone depth, all of which may affect water availability to the plant.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Soil Data for the Study Areas

	рН	Exchangeable Acidity	Organic Matter	P Level in the Soil	Root Zone Depth	Water-Holding Capacity
FERARI Locations	4.9-6.67	0.7-0.95 mEq/100 g	0.89-3.3%	1.5-379 mg/kg	75-150 cm	V%

Appendix 2. Sowing Date and Harvest Date of Maize during This Study

	Ashanti	KNUST	Mampong	Sunyani	Nyankpala	Wenchi	Ejura
Date of Sowing	June 1	May 15	September 24	October 1	June 24	August 19	September 16
Harvest Date	September 17	August 15	December 28	December 30	September 27	November 22	December 20

Appendix 3. Agroecological Zones of Ghana

Appendix 4. Yield Gap Variability in Nyankpala Field Station

Appendix 5. Yield Gap Variability in KNUST Station

Appendix 7. Solar Radiation Intercepted in the Ground in Ghana

REFERENCES

- Abbam, T., Johnson, F.A., Dash, J., Padmadas, S.S. 2018. Spatiotemporal Variations in Rainfall and Temperature in Ghana Over the Twentieth Century, 1900-2014. *Earth and Space Science*, 5(4):120-132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2017ea000327</u>
- Abdulai, S., Nkegbe, P.K., Donkoh, S.A. 2015. Technical Efficiency of Maize Production in Northern Ghana. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 8(43):5251-5259.
- Adeoye, G.O., & Agboola, A.A. 1985. Critical Levels for Soil pH, Available P, K, Zn and Mn and Maize Ear-Leaf Content of P, Cu and Mn in Sedimentary Soils of South-Western Nigeria. *Fertilizer Research*, 6(1):65-71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01058165</u>
- Adiele, J.G., Schut, A.G.T., van den Beuken, R.P.M., Ezui, K.S., Pypers, P., Ano, A.O., Egesi, C.N., Giller, K.E. 2021. A Recalibrated and Tested LINTUL-Cassava Simulation Model Provides Insight into the High Yield Potential of Cassava under Rainfed Conditions. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 124:126242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2021.126242</u>
- Adjei-Nsiah, S. 2012. Response of Maize (Zea mays L.) to Different Rates of Palm Bunch Ash Application in the Semi-Deciduous Forest Agro-Ecological Zone of Ghana. Applied and Environmental Soil Science. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/870948</u>
- Admasu, R., Tadesse, M., Shimbir, T. 2017. Effect of Growth Stage Moisture Stress on Maize (Zea mays L.) Yield and Water Use Efficiency at West Wellaga, Ethiopia. Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Healthcare, 7(23):98-103.
- Adu, G., Abdulai, M., Alidu, H., Nustugah, S., Buah, S., Kombiok, J., Obeng-Antwi, K., Abudulai, M., Etwire, P. 2014. *Recommended Production Practices for Maize in Ghana*. https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.4376.3527
- Adzawla, W., Atakora, W.K., Kissiedu, I.N., Martey, E., Etwire, P.M., Gouzaye, A., Bindraban, P.S. 2021. Characterization of Farmers and the Effect of Fertilization on Maize Yields in the Guinea Savannah, Sudan Savannah, and Transitional Agroecological Zones of Ghana. *EFB Bioeconomy Journal*, 1:100019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioeco.2021.100019
- Adzawla, W., Kissidue, I.N., Martey, E., Etwire, P.M., Atakora, W.K., Gouzaye, A., Bindraban, P.S. 2021. Baseline Study on Fertilizer Use and Food/Nutrition Security in the Sudan Savannah, Guinea Savannah, and Transitional Zones of Ghana. IFDC FERARI Research Report No. 5. <u>https://ifdc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/IFDC-FERARI-Research-Report-No-5-Final.pdf</u>
- Agyin-Birikorang, S., Tindjina, I., Adu-Gyamfi, R., Dauda, H.W., Jr., J.F., Sanabria, J. 2022. Managing Essential Plant Nutrients to Improve Maize Productivity in the Savanna Agroecological Zones of Northern Ghana: The Role of Secondary and Micronutrients. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 46:1, 38-57-. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01904167.2022.2027984</u>

- Al-Naggar, A.M.M., Shabana, R.A., Atta, M.M.M., Al-Khalil, T.H. 2015. Maize Response to Elevated Plant Density Combined With Lowered N-Fertilizer Rate is Genotype-Dependent. *The Crop Journal*, 3(2):96-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cj.2015.01.002
- Amegashie, B., Quansah, C., Agyare, A., Bonsu, M., Odai, S. 2012. On-Site Effects and Cost of Fertility Erosion from Five Small Reservoir Catchments in the Upper East Region of Ghana. Journal of Science and Technology (Ghana), 32(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.4314/just.v32i2.10</u>
- Angelucci, F., Modzakah, D., Ambusah, L. (2019). Analysis of Price Incentives for Maize in Ghana 2005-2013. *Gates Open Research*, 3(64):64.
- Annan, K., Kojo, A., Cindy, A., Samuel, A.N., Tunkumgnen, B. 2010. Profile of Heavy Metals in Some Medicinal Plants from Ghana Commonly Used as Components of Herbal Formulations. *Pharmacognosy Research*, 2(1):41. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-8490.60579</u>
- Asante, F.A., Amuakwa-Mensah, F. 2014. Climate Change and Variability in Ghana: Stocktaking. *Climate*, 3(1):78-99. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/CLI3010078</u>
- Atakora, W.K., B., Fosu, M., Marthey, F. 2014. Modeling Maize Production towards Site Specific Fertilizer Recommendation in Ghana. *Global Journal of Science Frontier Research*, 14(6).
- Baffour-Ata, F., Antwi-Agyei, P., Nkiaka, E., Dougill, A.J., Anning, A.K., Kwakye, S.O. 2021.
 Effect of Climate Variability on Yields of Selected Staple Food Crops in Northern Ghana.
 Journal of Agriculture and Food Research, 6:100205.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jafr.2021.100205
- Baquy, M.A.A., Li, J.Y., Jiang, J., Mehmood, K., Shi, R.Y., Xu, R.K. 2018. Critical pH and Exchangeable Al of Four Acidic Soils Derived from Different Parent Materials for Maize Crops. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 18(4):1490-1499. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S11368-017-1887-X</u>
- Barimah, P.T. 2014. Impact of Climate Change on Maize Production in Ghana. A Review. *Journal* of Agricultural Science and Applications, 3(4):89-93.
- Bawa, A. 2021. Yield and Growth Response of Maize (Zea mays L.) to Varietal and Nitrogen Application in the Guinea Savanna Agro-Ecology of Ghana. Advances in Agriculture. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/1765251
- Boling, A.A., Bouman, B.A.M., Tuong, T.P., Konboon, Y., Harnpichitvitaya, D. 2021. Yield Gap Analysis and the Effect of Nitrogen and Water on Photoperiod-Sensitive Jasmine Rice in North-East Thailand. *NJAS: Wageningen Journal of Life Sciences*, 58(1-2:11-19). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.njas.2010.05.001</u>

- Buah, S.S.J., Abatania, L.N., Aflakpui, G.K.S. 2010. Quality Protein Maize Response to Nitrogen Rate and Plant Density in the Guinea Savanna Zone of Ghana. West African Journal of Applied Ecology, 16(1):9-21. https://doi.org/10.4314/wajae.v16i1.55865
- Chérif, M., Audebert, A., Fofana, M., Zouzou, M. 2009. Evaluation of Iron Toxicity on Lowland Irrigated Rice in West Africa. *Tropicultura*, 27(2), 88-92.
- CSIR and MOFA. 2012. Catalogue of Crop Varieties Released and Registered in Ghana.
- Danquah, E.O., Beletse, Y., Stirzaker, R., Smith, C., Yeboah, S., Oteng-Darko, P., Frimpong, F., Ennin, S.A. 2020. Monitoring and Modelling Analysis of Maize (*Zea mays L.*) Yield Gap in Smallholder Farming in Ghana. *Agriculture*, 10(9):420. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture10090420
- De Wit, C. 1958. Transpiration and Crop Yields. Versl. Landbouwk. Onderz, 64:6.- <u>https://edepot.wur.nl/186445</u>
- Espe, M.B., Yang, H., Cassman, K.G., Guilpart, N., Sharifi, H., Linquist, B.A. 2016. "Estimating Yield Potential in Temperate High-Yielding, Direct-Seeded US Rice Production Systems," *Field Crops Research*, 193:123–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2016.04.003</u>
- Essel, B., Abaidoo, R.C., Opoku, A., Ewusi-Mensah, N. 2020. Economically Optimal Rate for Nutrient Application to Maize in the Semi-deciduous Forest Zone of Ghana. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 20(4):1703-1713. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42729-020-00240-y</u>
- Estes, L.D., Bradley, B.A., Beukes, H., Hole, D.G., Lau, M., Oppenheimer, M.G., Schulze, R., Tadross, M.A., Turner, W.R. 2013. "Comparing Mechanistic and Empirical Model Projections of Crop Suitability and Productivity: Implications for Ecological Forecasting," *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 22(8):1007-1018.
- Eteng, E.U., Asawalam, D.O. 2017. Critical Limits and Zinc Requirement for Maize (*Zea mays* L.) Production in Acid Soils of South-Eastern Nigeria. *Nigeria Agricultural Journal*, 48(2):81-92.
- FAOSTAT. 2020. Data downloaded from FAOSTAT.
- Farré, I., van Oijen, M., Leffelaar, P.A., Faci, J.M. 2000. Analysis of Maize Growth for Different Irrigation Strategies in Northeastern Spain. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 12(3-4):225-238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1161-0301(00)00051-4</u>
- Fischer, R.A. 2015. Definitions and Determination of Crop Yield, Yield Gaps, and of Rates of Change. *Field Crops Research*, 182:9-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2014.12.006</u>
- Foroutan-pour, K., Dutilleul, P., Smith, D.L. 2001. Inclusion of the Fractal Dimension of Leafless Plant Structure in the Beer-Lambert Law. *Agronomy Journal*, 93(2):333-338. <u>https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2001.932333x</u>

- Fox, R.H. 1979. SOIL pH, Aluminum Saturation, and Corn Grain Yield. *Soil Science*, 127(6). <u>https://journals.lww.com/soilsci/Fulltext/1979/06000/soil_ph,_aluminum_saturation,</u> <u>and corn_grain.2.aspx</u>
- Freduah, B.S., MacCarthy, D.S., Adam, M., Ly, M., Ruane, A.C., Timpong-Jones, E.C., Traore, P.S., Boote, K.J., Porter, C., Adiku, S.G.K. 2019. Sensitivity of Maize Yield in Smallholder Systems to Climate Scenarios in Semi-Arid Regions of West Africa: Accounting for Variability in Farm Management Practices. *Agronomy* 9(10):639. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy9100639
- Gimplinger, D.M., Kaul, H.-P. 2009. Calibration and Validation of the crop Growth Model LINTUL for Grain Amaranth (*Amaranthus sp.*). Journal of Applied Botany and Food Quality, 82:183-192.
- Hatfield, J.L., Prueger, J.H. 2015. Temperature Extremes: Effect on Plant Growth and Development. *Weather and Climate Extremes*, 10:4-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wace.2015.08.001
- Haverkort, A.J., Franke, A.C., Steyn, J.M., Pronk, A.A., Caldiz, D.O., & Kooman, P.L. 2015. A Robust Potato Model: LINTUL-POTATO-DSS. *Potato Research*, 58(4):313-327. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11540-015-9303-7
- Hussain, H.A., Men, S., Hussain, S., Chen, Y., Ali, S., Zhang, S., Zhang, K., Li, Y., Xu, Q., Liao, C., Wang, L. 2019. Interactive Effects of Drought and Heat Stresses on Morpho-Physiological Attributes, Yield, Nutrient Uptake and Oxidative Status in Maize Hybrids. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1):1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-40362-7</u>
- Ifie, B.E., Kwapong, N.A., Anato-Dumelo, M., Konadu, B.A., Tongoona, P.B., Danquah, E.Y. 2022. Assessment of Farmers Readiness to Adopt Maize Hybrid Varieties for High Productivity in Ghana. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B — Soil & Plant Science, 72(1):506-515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09064710.2021.2018032</u>
- Jiao, Y., Yi, Y., Feng, L., Sun, Z., Yang, N., Yu, J., Zheng, M., Zhang, L., Zheng, J. 2017. Effects of Subsoiling on Maize Yield and Water-Use Efficiency in a Semiarid Area. Open Life Sciences, 12(1):386-392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/biol-2017-0045</u>
- Jones, J.W., Antle, J.M., Basso, B., Boote, K.J., Conant, R.T., Foster, I., Godfray, H.C.J., Herrero, M., Howitt, R.E., Janssen, S., Keating, B.A., Munoz-Carpena, R., Porter, C.H., Rosenzweig, C., Wheeler, T.R. 2017. "Brief History of Agricultural Systems Modeling," *Agricultural Systems*, 155:240-254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2016.05.014</u>
- Kane, D.A., Bradford, M.A., Fuller, E., Oldfield, E.E., Wood, S.A. 2021. Soil Organic Matter Protects US Maize Yields and Lowers Crop Insurance Payouts under Drought. *Environmental Research Letters*, 16(4):044018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ABE492</u>

- Khalid, H., Zia-ur-Rehman, M., Naeem, A., Khalid, M.U., Rizwan, M., Ali, S., Umair, M., Sohail, M.I. 2018. Chapter 18 Solanum nigrum L.: A Novel Hyperaccumulator for the Phyto-Management of Cadmium Contaminated Soils. In *Cadmium Toxicity and Tolerance in Plants: From Physiology to Remediation*, pp. 451-477, Hasanuzzaman, M., Prasad, M.N.V., & Fujita, M. (Eds.). https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-814864-8.00018-8
- Kim, J.H. 2019. Multicollinearity and Misleading Statistical Results. Korean Journal of Anesthesiology, 72(6):558. <u>https://doi.org/10.4097/kja.19087</u>
- Kooistra, L., Rijk, B., Nannes, L. 2014. Assimilation of LAI Time-Series in Crop Production Models. *EGU General Assembly Conference Abstracts*, 2781.
- Kugbe, J.X., Kombat, R., Atakora, W. 2019. Secondary and Micronutrient Inclusion in Fertilizer Formulation Impact on Maize Growth and Yield Across Northern Ghana. *Cogent Food* and Agriculture, 5:1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932.2019.1700030</u>
- Logah, V., Atobrah, V., Essel, B., Bosomtwe, A., Acquah, A. 2014. Phosphorus Uptake and Partitioning in Maize as Affected by Tillage on Dystric Cambisol and Ferric Acrisol in Ghana. *Journal of the Ghana Science Association*, 15(1):9-23.
- Logah, V., Ewusi-Mensah, N., Tetteh, F.K.M. 2011. Soil Organic Carbon and Crop Yield under Different Soil Amendments and Cropping Systems in the Semi-Deciduous Forest Zone of Ghana. *Journal of Plant Sciences*, 6(4):165-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.3923/jps.2011.165.173</u>
- Lord, D., Qin, X., Geedipally, S.R. 2021. Chapter 2 Fundamentals and Data Collection. *Highway* Safety Analytics and Modeling, 17-57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816818-9.00010-X</u>
- MacCarthy, D.S., Adiku, S.G., Freduah, B.S., Kamara, A.Y., Narh, S., Abdulai, A.L. 2018. Evaluating Maize Yield Variability and Gaps in Two Agroecologies in Northern Ghana using a Crop Simulation Model. *South African Journal of Plant and Soil*, 35(2):137-147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02571862.2017.1354407</u>
- Marsh, B.H., Lloyd, R.W. 1996. Soil pH Effect on Imazaquin Persistence in Soil. Weed Technology, 10(2):337-340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0890037x00040057</u>
- Menge, B.A., Iles, A.C., Freidenburg, T.L. 2013. Keystone Species. In Encyclopedia of Biodiversity: Second Edition, pp. 442-457, Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-384719-5.00081-2</u>
- MoFA. 2016. Agriculture in Ghana Facts and Figures 2015. Ministry of Food and Agriculture, Statistics, Research and Information Directorate (SRID). https://mofa.gov.gh/site/images/pdf/agriculture-in-ghana-facts-and-figures-2015.pdf
- MoFA. 2018. Agriculture in Ghana Facts and Figures 2017. Statistics, Research and Information Directorate (SRID). <u>https://mofa.gov.gh/site/publications/research-reports/375-agriculture-in-ghana-facts-figures-2017</u>

MoFA and IFPRI. 2020. Ghana's Maize Market. https://doi.org/10.2499/p15738coll2.133696

- Morell, F.J., Yang, H.S., Cassman, K.G., Wart, J. Van, Elmore, R.W., Licht, M., Coulter, J.A., Ciampitti, I.A., Pittelkow, C.M., Brouder, S.M., Thomison, P., Lauer, J., Graham, C., Massey, R., Grassini, P. 2016. Can Crop Simulation Models Be Used to Predict Local to Regional Maize Yields and Total Production in the U.S. Corn Belt? *Field Crops Research*, 192:1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2016.04.004</u>
- Moreno-Cadena, P., Hoogenboom, G., Cock, J.H., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Pypers, P., Kreye, C., Tariku, M., Ezui, K.S., Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, L.A., Asseng, S. 2021. Modeling Growth, Development and Yield of Cassava: A Review. *Field Crops Research*, 267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2021.108140
- Muñoz Sabater, J. 2019. ERA5-Land Hourly Data from 1981 to Present. Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S) Climate Data Store (CDS). https://doi.org/doi:10.24381/cds.e2161bac
- Murthy, V.R.K. 2004. Crop Growth Modeling and Its Applications in Agricultural Meteorology. Satellite Remote Sensing and GIS Applications in Agricultural Meteorology, 235-261.
- Nassiri Mahallati, M. 2020. Advances in Modeling Saffron Growth and Development at Different Scales. *Saffron*, 139-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-818638-1.00009-5</u>
- Niarakis, A., Helikar, T. 2021. A Practical Guide to Mechanistic Systems Modeling in Biology Using a Logic-Based Approach. *Briefings in Bioinformatics*, 22(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbaa236</u>
- Oldfield, E.E., Bradford, M.A., Wood, S.A. 2019. Global Meta-Analysis of the Relationship Between Soil Organic Matter and Crop Yields. *SOIL*, 5(1):15-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/soil-5-15-2019</u>
- Owusu-Bennoah, E., Ampofo, J.G., Acquay, D.K. 1995. Phosphorus Status of Some Semi-Arid Agricultural Soils of Northern Ghana. *Ghana Journal of Agricultural Science*, 28:29-36.
- Ragasa, C., Chapoto, A., Kolavalli, S. 2014. *Maize Productivity in Ghana*. International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). <u>https://www.ifpri.org/publication/maize-productivity-ghana</u>
- Rasul, G., Chaudhry, Q.Z., Mahmood, A., Hyder, K.W. 2011. Effect of Temperature Rise on Crop Growth and Productivity. *Pakistan Journal of Meteorology*, 8(15):53-62.
- Rong, L.-Bing, Gong, K. Yuan, Duan, F. Ying, Li, S. Kun, Zhao, M., He, J., Zhou, W. Bin, Yu, Q. 2021. Yield Gap and Resource Utilization Efficiency of Three Major Food Crops in the World A Review. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, 20(2):349-362. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(20)63555-9
- Sallah, P.Y.K., Obeng-Antwi, K., Twumasi-Afriyie, S., Asiedu, E.A., Boa-Amponsem, K., Ahenkora, K., Agyemang, A. 2009. Agronomic Potential of "Dodzi", an Extra Early-

Maturing Maize Cultivar. *Ghana Journal of Agricultural Science*, 41(2):243-249. https://doi.org/10.4314/gjas.v41i2.48801

- Scheiterle, L., Birner, R. 2018. Assessment of Ghana's Comparative Advantage in Maize Production and the Role of Fertilizers. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 10(11):4181. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su10114181</u>
- Simoni, S., Padoan, S., Nadeau, D.F., Diebold, M., Porporato, A., Barrenetxea, G., Ingelrest, F., Vetterli, M., Parlange, M.B. 2011. Hydrologic Response of an Alpine Watershed: Application of a Meteorological Wireless Sensor Network to Understand Streamflow Generation. *Water Resources Research*, 47(10). <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2011wr010730</u>
- Spitters, C.J.T. 1990. Crop Growth Models: Their Usefulness and Limitations. *Acta Horticulturae*, 267:349-368. <u>https://doi.org/10.17660/actahortic.1990.267.42</u>
- Spitters, C.J.T., Schapendonk, A.H.C.M. 1990. Evaluation of Breeding Strategies for Drought Tolerance in Potato by Means of Crop Growth Simulation. *Plant and Soil*, 123(2):193-203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00011268</u>
- Srivastava, A.K., Ceglar, A., Zeng, W., Gaiser, T., Mboh, C.M., Ewert, F. 2020. The Implication of Different Sets of Climate Variables on Regional Maize Yield Simulations. *Atmosphere*, 11(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos11020180</u>
- Statista. n.d. Ghana Share of Economic Sectors in the Gross Domestic Product from 2010-2020. Accessed April 15, 2022, <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/447524/share-of-economic-sectors-in-the-gdp-in-ghana/</u>
- Sutar, R.K. 2017. Sulphur Nutrition in Maize A Critical Review. *International Journal of Pure & Applied Bioscience*, 5(6):1582-1596. <u>https://doi.org/10.18782/2320-7051.6092</u>
- Sutar, R.K., Kumar, B.N.A., Potdar, M.P., Pujar, A.M. 2018. Effect of Different Sources and Levels of Sulphur under Irrigated Condition in Maize. *International Journal of Plant & Soil Science*, 24(2):1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.9734/ijpss/2018/43615</u>
- Tanu, M., Amponsah, W., Yahaya, B., Bessah, E., Ansah, S.O., Wemegah, C.S., Agyare, W.A. 2021. Evaluation of Global Solar Radiation, Cloudiness Index and Sky View Factor as Potential Indicators of Ghana's Solar Energy Resource. *Scientific African*, 14:e01061. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sciaf.2021.e01061</u>
- The, C., Calba, H., Zonkeng, C., Ngonkeu, E.L.M., Adetimirin, V.O., Mafouasson, H.A., Meka, S.S., Horst, W.J. 2006. Responses of Maize Grain Yield to Changes in Acid Soil Characteristics After Soil Amendments. *Plant and Soil*, 284(1-2):45-57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-006-0029-9</u>
- Van Bavel, C.H.M. 1953. A Drought Criterion and Its Application in Evaluating Drought Incidence and Hazard. *Agronomy Journal*, 45(4):167-172. <u>https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1953.00021962004500040009x</u>

- Van Ittersum, M.K., Cassman, K.G. 2013. Yield gap Analysis Rationale, Methods and Applications: Introduction to the Special Issue. *Field Crops Research*, 143:1-3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2012.12.012
- Van Ittersum, M.K., Cassman, K.G., Grassini, P., Wolf, J., Tittonell, P., Hochman, Z. 2013. Yield Gap Analysis With Local to Global Relevance—A Review. *Field Crops Research*, 143:4-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FCR.2012.09.009</u>
- Van Loon, M.P., Adjei-Nsiah, S., Descheemaeker, K., Akotsen-Mensah, C., van Dijk, M., Morley, T., van Ittersum, M.K., Reidsma, P. 2019. Can Yield Variability Be Explained? Integrated Assessment of Maize Yield Gaps Across Smallholders in Ghana. *Field Crops Research*, 236:132-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2019.03.022</u>
- Van Oijen, M., Leffelaar, P. 2010. Crop Ecology 2011. Wageningen University, Models & Data Library, Plant Production Systems. <u>https://models.pps.wur.nl/lintul-1-simple-crop-growth-model-simulate-growth-under-potential-growing-conditions</u>
- Wahab, I., Hall, O., Jirström, M. 2022. The Maize is the Cost of the Farming, and the Cassava Is Our Profit: Smallholders' Perceptions and Attitudes to Poor Crop Patches in the Eastern Region of Ghana. *Agriculture and Food Security*, 11(1):1-17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40066-022-00361-w
- Williams, A., Hunter, M.C., Kammerer, M., Kane, D.A., Jordan, N.R., Mortensen, D.A., Smith, R.G., Snapp, S., Davis, A.S. 2016. "Soil Water Holding Capacity Mitigates Downside Risk and Volatility in US Rainfed Maize: Time to Invest in Soil Organic Matter?" *PLoS ONE*, 11(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0160974
- Wongnaa, C.A., Awunyo-Vitor, D., Mensah, A., Adams, F. 2019. Profit Efficiency Among Maize Farmers and Implications for Poverty Alleviation and Food Security in Ghana. *Scientific African*, 6:e00206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sciaf.2019.e00206</u>
- Worqlul, A.W., Dile, Y.T., Jeong, J., Adimassu, Z., Lefore, N., Gerik, T., Srinivasan, R., Clarke, N. 2019. Effect of Climate Change on Land Suitability for Surface Irrigation and Irrigation Potential of the Shallow Groundwater in Ghana. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 157:110-125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2018.12.040</u>
- Wortmann, C.S., Stewart, Z. 2021. Nutrient Management for Sustainable Food Crop Intensification in African Tropical Savannas. Agronomy Journal, 113(6):4605-4615. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/agj2.20851</u>
- Xu, X., Du, X., Wang, F., Sha, J., Chen, Q., Tian, G., Zhu, Z., Ge, S., Jiang, Y. 2020. Effects of Potassium Levels on Plant Growth, Accumulation and Distribution of Carbon, and Nitrate Metabolism in Apple Dwarf Rootstock Seedlings. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11:904. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.00904
- Yang, Y. Shan, Guo, X. Xia, Liu, H. Fang, Liu, G. Zhou, Liu, W. Mao, Ming, B., Xie, R. Zhi, Wang, K. Ru, Hou, P., Li, S. Kun. 2021. The Effect of Solar Radiation Change on the

Maize Yield Gap from the Perspectives of Dry Matter Accumulation and Distribution. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, 20(2):482-493. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2095-3119(20)63581-x</u>

Yangyuoru, M., Boateng, E., Adiku, S.G.K., Acquah, D., Adjadeh, T.A., Mawunya, F. 2009. Effects of Natural and Synthetic Soil Conditioners on Soil Moisture Retention and Maize Yield. West African Journal of Applied Ecology, 9(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.4314</u> /wajae.v9i1.45676

FERARI is an international public-private partnership that builds science-based approaches to sitespecific fertilization for widespread adoption by farmers in Ghana for improved food and nutrition security. This calls for a transformation of the fertilizer and food systems that must be driven by evidence-based agro-technical perspectives embedded in multi-stakeholder processes.

To support this transformation, the following institutions have partnered to implement the Fertilizer Research and Responsible Implementation (FERARI) program:

- International Fertilizer Development Centre (IFDC)
- Mohammed VI Polytechnic University (UM6P)
- OCP Group
- Wageningen University and Research (WUR)
- University of Liège (ULiège)
- University of Ghana (UG)
- University for Development Studies (UDS)
- Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology in Kumasi (KNUST)
- University of Cape Coast (UCC)
- University of Energy and Natural Resources (UENR)
- Akenten Appiah-Menka University of Skills Training and Entrepreneurial Development (AAMUSTED) College of Agriculture Education
- Council for Scientific and Industrial Research in Kumasi (CSIR-SRI) and in Tamale (CSIR-SARI) and its subsidiary (CSIR-SARI-Wa)

FERARI operates in conjunction with the Planting for Food and Jobs program of the Government of Ghana (GoG) to embed development efforts into national policy priorities to reach impact at scale. It trains five Ph.D. and two post-doctoral candidates and dozens of master's-level students in building the evidence base for its interventions.

FERARI conducts hundreds of fertilizer response trials on maize, rice, and soybean, on-station and also with farmers, and demonstrates them to farmer groups in the northern and middle belt of Ghana. It conducts surveys among farmers and actors in the value chain to understand the drivers for use of fertilizers and other inputs and the marketing of the produce to enhance farm productivity and income. It helps the GoG to establish a Ghana National Fertilizer Platform, developing its soil mapping expertise toward an information platform.

The content of this report is the sole responsibility of the authors of the involved institutions portrayed on the front page.

